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 Number of Resources within Property 
 (Do not include previously listed resources in the count)              

Contributing   Noncontributing 
 
_____6_______   ______0______  buildings 
 
_____________   ______1 (lot)__  sites 
 
_____________   _____________  structures  
 
_____________   _____________  objects 
 
______6______   ______1______  Total 

 
 
 Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register ____0_____ 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

6. Function or Use  

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

  

COMMERCE/ TRADE: financial institution,  

specialty store, restaurant, professional, 

business, 

department store 

GOVERNMENT: post office 

 

 
Current Functions 

(Enter categories from instructions.) 
  

COMMERCE/ TRADE:  professional, 
specialty  

store, business 

SOCIAL: Meeting Hall 

VACANT/ NOT IN USE 
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_____________________________________________________________________________ 

7. Description  

 

 Architectural Classification  
 (Enter categories from instructions.) 
  

LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY  
AMERICAN MOVEMENTS:  Commercial 

Style 

 

 

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.) 
Principal exterior materials of the property:  

foundation: BRICK, CONCRETE 

walls: BRICK, STUCCO 

  

roof: ROLLED 

 
 
 

Narrative Description 

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property.  Describe contributing and 
noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general 
characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and 
significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)   
____________________________                            ________________________________________________ 
Summary Paragraph 

 
The proposed Jacksonville Commercial Historic District runs along First Street from Main Street to West 
Hickory Street and includes six buildings dating from 1925-1962.  This area lies directly across from the 
railroad and a few blocks from where the train depot once sat.  These blocks developed as the town center grew 
northwest, at a time when Jacksonville’s growth still relied upon railroad transportation. The building 
composition of this community includes brick and stucco commercial structures.  The historic integrity of this 
community is 100% intact and contributing to its status as a historic district.  The identity of this area is defined 
through its remaining historic structures, its location near the railroad, and as a representation of Jacksonville’s 
growth from the early to mid-twentieth century. 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Narrative Description  

 
As in many communities across the nation, the location of the railroad was instrumental to Jacksonville’s 
pattern of town development.  The first official plat of the community shows a township of eight full blocks and 
four partial blocks extending from the railroad to one block east of Oak Street, one block south of Chestnut 
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Street, to one block north of Pine Street. The proposed Jacksonville Commercial Historic District was originally 
an addition to the original township developed around 1873.   It sits two blocks northwestward and across the 
railroad tracks from the original center of town.  However, it is the only in-tact and still-existing set of 
commercial structures representing the historic development of Jacksonville commerce.   
 
Although the district is a little more than a block long, its architecture represents community growth from the 
mid-1920s to the early 1960s and most of the buildings are original, several still retaining their historic 
architectural character.   As the construction dates of the buildings suggest, this area developed slowly, taking 
over four decades to fill these two blocks alone.  Jacksonville’s population has had several rises and setbacks 
over the decades and still struggles to remain a relative commercial center with the larger communities of Little 
Rock and Memphis so closely located. 
 
But at the construction of the district’s first existing building in 1925, Jacksonville was stable and generating 
enough money to build a brand-new brick school building on South Oak Street.  Nearby, the commercial core 
was growing to include a large brick mercantile built by the Henry Brothers at the corner of North First and 
West Hickory Streets.   
 
The pattern of growth mainly includes brick and stucco commercial buildings with minimal ornament built in 
the city’s boom years.  A characteristic example includes the City Café Building.  They are mainly utilitarian in 
style and decorated with slight ornament.   There is an exception to all of the buildings being built in the 
standard 20th century commercial style, the gas station at 200 N. First St. (PU8836), which was built in the very 
modern, but a simplistic version, of Art Deco.   
 
Jacksonville has been the recipient of several financial and communal setbacks resulting in more than one 
exodus of its citizens.  Historically, when the city has been healthy the population grew, when it was in 
recession building growth halted. 
 
Today, the district has an industrial and somewhat desolate feel with some unoccupied buildings.  Currently, the 
district has a very large contemporary bridge constructed over Main Street.  Although the base of the bridge is 
open to allow traffic flow down First Street, its massive base visually divides the district into north and south 
sides.  But the area surrounding the district has several vacant lots and undeveloped spaces.  Most of the 
buildings are occupied, some with resale businesses.  The district houses a pawn and used tire shop but it also 
holds offices and a hall for the Knights of Columbus.  The local government is interested in revitalizing the area 
and has been instrumental in initiating the survey and National Register nomination process. 
 
Inventory 
 
PU8831, City Café Building, 104, 106, and 108 N. First St., c. 1927, Contributing.  Three-bay commercial 
building with horizontally lined decorative brick on the front façade. There are four decorative vents with 
circular patterns in the front frieze and four on the back.  The building was built as The City Café, which 
operated in this location until the 1950s.  The Knights of Columbus bought the building in 2005 and currently 
operate a bingo parlor here. 
 
PU8832, Harpoles Store, 110 and 112 N. First St., c. 1927, Contributing. Two-bay red brick commercial 
building with a tile cap at  the parapet.  Built as Edgar Harpole and Brothers mercantile store by farmers, Squire 
and Rena Harpole.  They installed public showers in the back of the store before most of Jacksonville had 
running water, charging townspeople to take a shower.  The store cashed paychecks for the AR Ordinance Plant 
employees before the city had a bank.  All four Harpole brothers worked in the store.  Edgar was the barber, 
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Austin was the bookkeeper, Reck drove the ice truck, and Harry was the butcher.  Edgar was also the first 
alderman for the City of Jacksonville.  In 1946 the store was purchased by two brothers, Kenneth Patrick and 
Leroy Wilson, and became Wilson Mercantile.  Then in the 1950s it became a furniture store. 
 
PU8833, Thompson Building  #2, 116 N. First St. d. 1940, Contributing. Red brick  20th century commercial 
building with a brick inset panel in the frieze.  A cast-concrete plaque in frieze reads “THOMPSON 1940”.  
This was the first building built as a dedicated post office in Jacksonville.  The previous post office had been 
located inside a mercantile store a few blocks down.  Benjamin F. Thompson was Post Master from Jan 1, 1943 
to 1965.  The building was then occupied by Arkansas Power and Light Company (AP&L).  It currently serves 
as offices for a realty company. 
 
PU8834, Thompson Building #1, 118 N. First St.  d. 1938, Contributing.  Red brick 20th century commercial 
building with a brick inset panel at the frieze and angled front doors.  Cast-concrete plaque in the frieze reads 
“19-THOMPSON-38”.  In the 1940s Nixon’s Barber Shop was located in this building.  It had a shoe shine 
stand out front which catered to military men.  Blodgett’s Drug Store was here in the 1950s.  It is currently 
empty. 
 
PU8835, Henry Brothers Store, 120 N. First St., d. 1925, Contributing.  Brick 20th century commercial brick 
building with cast-concrete plaque in the frieze which reads, “HENRY BROS. 1925”.  This structure was built 
by a farming family, the Henrys:  Alonzo F., M.L. Henry, and E.A. Henry along with their father M.J. Henry, 
for a mercantile.  It then became Garvin’s General store, Pace’s Department Store, then Carlisle Department 
Store.  It now houses a pawn shop. 
 
PU8836, 200 N. First St., c. 1955, Contributing.  Stucco Art Deco gas station built of concrete blocks.  It is a 
square building with two bay doors and a small office area.  The north side has corner windows.  Its pump 
island and light are still intact but the pumps are gone.  In 2001 it was owned by Cy Carney Gas Co.  It was sold 
to Mark Waggoner in 2001 and became Waggoner Motor Co.  It operated as only one of three gas stations in 
the area for many years.  It is currently a used tire shop. 
 
 
Break down by period: 

1925-1935   3 Buildings  43% 
1936-1939  1 Buildings   14% 
1940-1962  2 Buildings  29% 
Non-contributing 1 Vacant Lot  14% 
Listed   0 Buildings    0% 
 
 
Integrity: 

The integrity of the buildings of the district still reflects the small-town downtown that Jacksonville would have 
had in the first part of the twentieth century.  Although the buildings have had some modifications, the 
streetscape still presents a cohesive block of buildings from the district’s period of significance. 

However, the biggest change to the district and its setting is the construction of the Main Street overpass in the 
2000s.  The bridge introduced a large visual intrusion into the district, essentially cutting the downtown into two 
halves. Even though First Street passes under the new bridge, it really separates the two parts of the First Street 
commercial strip.  Although it was reviewed under Section 106 and given a “no adverse effect” finding, no 
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determinations of eligibility were recorded, and a more thorough and informed review of the project should 
have occurred.  The intrusive nature of the bridge is why the boundary is being cut at Main Street.
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_______________________________________________________________ 
8. Statement of Significance 

 

 Applicable National Register Criteria  
 (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register  
 listing.) 

 
A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 

broad patterns of our history. 
  

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.  
 

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.  
 

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 
history.  

 
 

 Criteria Considerations  
 (Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.) 

 
A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes 

  
B. Removed from its original location   

 
C. A birthplace or grave  

 
D. A cemetery 

 
E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure 

 
F. A commemorative property 

 
G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years  

 
 
 
 
 

X

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

□ 
□ 
□ 

□ 

□ 
□ 
□ 
□ 
□ 
□ 
□ 
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Areas of Significance 
(Enter categories from instructions.)  
Commerce__________  
___________________  
___________________  
___________________  
___________________  
___________________  
___________________ 

 
 

Period of Significance 

_1925-1965__   ______ 
___________________ 
___________________ 

 
 Significant Dates  
 _N/A   _____________  
 ___________________ 
 ___________________ 

 
Significant Person 

(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 
_N/A_______________  
___________________  
___________________ 

 
 Cultural Affiliation  

 _N/A   _____________  
 ___________________  
 ___________________ 

 
 Architect/Builder 
 _Unknown__________ 
 ___________________  
 ___________________ 
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes 
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any 
applicable criteria considerations.)  
 
The Jacksonville Commercial Historic District is locally significant under Criterion A as part of 
the commercial center of Jacksonville.  It thrived due to its location along First Street, which was 
the original route of U.S. 67, and because it was directly across from the railroad and along U.S. 
67.  This district also supported the historically residential area of Jacksonville which lies behind 
it.  The period of significance begins in 1925 and ends in 1965, fifty years prior to the present.  
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of 
significance.)   
 
Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate) 

The area in which the city of Jacksonville was later to be developed was established by white 
men in 1818.  Three brothers, Sherrard, Joseph, and Jacob Gray were the earliest known pioneers 
in the area.  They’d brought their families, grown children’s families, and slaves from Eastern 
Tennessee to what was then known as an unsettled area between the Bayou Meto Community 
and the Bayou of the Two Prairies about twelve miles north of Little Rock.1  
 
When the Grays arrived, Arkansas was in the midst of becoming a territory, causing the Grays to 
wait for land to be surveyed before claims could be recorded and purchases of property could be 
made.  But when available, the Grays purchased large tracts of land.  As a result, when 
townships were recorded in Pulaski County this area was called Gray Township, in honor of the 
largest family of landowners in the area.2   
 
By 1830 the family holdings had become so large that one of their households could almost be 
considered a small township by itself.  Samson Gray, a son of one of the pioneering brothers, 
household consisted of twelve of the Gray family members and eleven slaves.  At one point in 
1826, Samson was documented to own 2,746 acres of land in Pulaski County.  It included the 
land where Jacksonville would later be established.3  The Grays built a tavern, an early stage 
stop, and a school at this settlement.4 
 
But the settlement of Arkansas was a slow process as early roads were little more than foot paths 
and water travel was uncertain.  But from 1830-1840 road conditions began to improve due to 
help from the federal government.  As a result of easier passage, stage travel became safer and 

                         
1 Carolyn Yancy Little, “The Bayou Meto Settlement,” Siftings from Jacksonville’s History 1820-1980, 1986.  
2 Carolyn Little, “The History of Jacksonville 1818-1976”, 6. 
3 Ibid, 8. 
4 Ibid, 6. 
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more predictable with stops for taverns, food, and overnight accommodations.  Gray Township 
was a popular stage stop encouraging more settlers to move into the area.5   
 
By the 1850s and 1860s the westward movement was in full swing and steam boats were quickly 
being surpassed by railroads as the main source of passenger and commodity transportation.  
Arkansas passed legislation to set up ground work for the Cairo and Fulton Railroad as well as 
several other lines to come through the state.  But construction was promptly stopped due to the 
outbreak of the Civil War.  
 
In 1854 a farmer by the name of Nicholas W. Jackson, originally from North Carolina, sold his 
holdings in Prairie County to try his luck in Gray Township.  He was successful enough in Gray 
to purchase several other pieces of land in the area around 1865.6  These acres were choice 
locations in that they surrounded the proposed right of way for the Cairo and Fulton.  Jackson 
moved this family to the Gray Township land around 1867. 7 
 
In June of 1870, Jackson deeded a right-of-way to the Cairo and Fulton for $300 under the 
condition that the railroad establish a depot at or near his property.  It was built near the corner 
where Spring and Walnut Streets now meet.8  In this same year, Jackson platted out this land, but 
never officially filed the record.  From this divided land he sold plats where the deeds described 
the lots as being in the town of Jackson.9    
 
With the construction of the railroad, the community quickly grew.  Streets were laid out and 
cleared, shops were built and the area began to become a real town.  The first official plat of the 
town of “Jacksonville” was dated January 2, 1872.  It showed a town of eight full blocks and 
four partial blocks extending from the railroad tracks to one block east of Oak Street, to one 
block south of Chestnut Street, to one block north of Pine Street. The area consisted of 120 lots.10 
 
In 1873 another section was added to the town.  The addition consisted of eight full blocks and 
nine partial blocks including the new streets of Division, Mulberry, Locust (now known as Main 
Street), Hickory, Elm, First, and Second streets.  The proposed Jacksonville Commercial Historic 
District lies within these boundaries.  At this time the town grew to hold grist mills and gins, 
drug stores and medical practices, a general store, law office, meat market, and hotel.   By 1893 
the population was at 200.11   
 
Jacksonville’s population remained between 100 and 200 for many years, even into the early 
years of the Depression.12  But at the construction of the district’s first (still-existing) building in 

                         
5 Ibid, 8. 
6 Ibid, 18.   
7 Little, Siftings.  
8 Carolyn Little, “Jacksonville Gets Railroad Station, Followed By Post Office,” Jacksonville Centennial 1870-1970. 
9 Little, The History of Jacksonville, 18. 
10 Ibid, 19. 
11 Little, Jacksonville Gets Railroad. 
12 “Serving the Business Community Fifty Years:  The Jacksonville Chamber of Commerce”, 20. 
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1925, Jacksonville was stable and generating enough money to build a brand-new brick school 
building on South Oak Street.  Nearby, the commercial core of the proposed historic district was 
growing to include a large brick mercantile built by the Henry Brothers at the corner of North 
First and West Hickory Streets.  The year 1927 brought in another large mercantile and a very 
popular eating spot, both built of brick in a common and very sparsely ornamented, 20th century 
commercial style.   
 
Although the Depression of the 1930s was difficult for everyone in the United States, 
Jacksonville was not as adversely affected as many of the larger cities.  The population consisted 
of several farmers and most families kept gardens or small farms, as the area surrounding the 
commercial core mainly relied upon an agricultural-based income.   Therefore, many of the 
farmers at least had their crops and produce to sustain their families.  Regardless of the country’s 
Depression, Jacksonville actually saw some growth at this time.  Three buildings were built in 
the district between 1925 and 1935. 
 
To assist with the financial and community strains brought on by the Depression, the federal 
government sponsored programs including the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC)  to employ 
jobless men.  One of the CCC’s 39 district sites included Jacksonville and in 1935 work on 
“Camp Jacksonville” began.  The local community greatly benefitted from the influx of new 
young men, resulting in some growth in the commercial core.  The 1930s saw another restaurant 
and a few other specialty retail stores open and in 1940, the first post office building, the 
Thompson Building was built.  In all, one new building was built between 1936 and 1939.   
 
World War II broke out in the fall of 1939 and the US government began to phase out the CCC 
camps.  By mid-1941 they had all closed.  Jacksonville sorely felt the loss of income and 
population left by the exodus of its new residents.  By 1940 the streets were still unpaved and 
there was no natural gas, street lights, water, or sewer system. The scarce amenities and lifeless 
town saw little new building.  Only one new structure was built in 1940, Thompson Building #2 
which was the first building designed as a post office. 
 
At this time, Homer Atkins, who grew up on a farm in Piedmont about six miles from 
Jacksonville, was elected as governor of Arkansas.  During his tenure in office, he was 
instrumental in bringing war plants to Arkansas, including the Jacksonville Ordinance Plant.13  
The Jacksonville plant opened in 1941 and manufactured fuses and detonators.   At this time, the 
citizens of the community petitioned to incorporate the town and it officially became the City of 
Jacksonville in November of 1941. 
 
The plant employed thousands of employees, mainly from Little Rock and North Little Rock and 
surrounding areas who had to be bused, car-pooled, or brought in by train.  The government 
condemned 9,000 acres in Jacksonville to build 476 buildings, including a library, hospital, fire 
department, recreation hall, auditorium, barber and beauty shops, newspaper office and six 
dormitories.   Nine trains ran a day shuttling employees from Little Rock and North Little Rock 

                         
13 Ibid. 
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to and from Jacksonville.  At its peak, the plant employed 13,500 people and brought an 
estimated $69 million to the local economy.   
 
The citizens of Jacksonville petitioned the local authorities to build a bank.  They had been 
traveling to Little Rock to deposit large sums of money or cash substantial checks.  So the 
Jacksonville State Bank was built in the very progressive Art Deco style along the south side of 
Main Street, outside of the proposed district.14  The addition of the bank and post office to the 
district, although built during a rough patch, suggest the area was still important, if not the new 
“center” of town.   
 
At the close of the war in 1945, the plant shut down leaving the majority of Jacksonville’s 
residents without employment.  The farms that had helped the citizens through the low point of 
the Depression were now covered by empty war plant buildings.  A substantial amount of the 
population left in search of jobs.  
 
When the plant closed, Jacksonville citizens organized the local Chamber of Commerce which 
worked with the War Assets Administration to secure buyers for property formerly occupied by 
the plant.  Three early companies to establish their offices in the now industrial park were Reasor 
Hill Corporation who came in 1946, Hiwasse Manufacturing Company in 1947, and Redmond 
Company in 1948.  The chamber also secured funds for roads for the city and the city built water 
and sewage facilities bringing Jacksonville into the twentieth century.      
 
In 1952, the opportunity arose to bring the Air Force Base to the area.  The cities of Jacksonville 
and Little Rock raised over $1 million to purchase land which they donated to the base in order 
to get the Defense Department to approve the location.  The base opened in 1955 and in doing so 
drew businesses and industries to Jacksonville.  The population grew from around 2,000 in 1948 
to more than 30,000 in the 1990s.  The base claimed over 6,6000 employees and over 12,000 
retirees settled in the area. 15 
 
The 1980s and 1990s once again saw an exodus of residents when Dioxin, a toxic byproduct of 
insecticides—once produced on the site, was discovered at the old Reasor-Hill/ Vertac plant site.  
In 1978, the National Dioxin Survey found high concentrations of the agent in waste sludge and 
contamination of wildlife and fish as far as fifty miles downstream from the old plant.  By 1983 
the site was labeled a Superfund site which described it as one of the worst Dioxin-contaminated 
sites in the nation.  Vertac, the company which produced the wastes, attempted to make some 
improvements but in 1987 they abandoned the site, leaving approximately 29,000 drums of 
Dioxin-containing waste.   
 
In 1987, the Arkansas Department of Pollution Control and Ecology (ADPCE) took remedial 
steps in containing and eliminating the waste but in 1993 the United States Environmental 

                         
14Jacksonville Historical Society, “Jacksonville’s Historical District:  Preserving our History for Future 
Generations,” Prepared by Barbara Mashburn, Gary Fletcher, Carolyn Kent, 21.  
15 Ibid, 21. 
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Protection Agency took over the cleanup operation and sued Hercules and Vertac for the costs.  
Today, the site remains closed to the public and monitored by the EPA but is considered no 
longer harmful to the public.16   Years of controversy and negative publicity haunted the city.  
The city claimed the rumors spread about contaminated drinking water were false but growth 
slowed dramatically.17  
 
By the end of the twentieth century, possibly enough time had passed to put the city back on 
track.  The community gained a favorable settlement with the EPA and the responsible parties 
and millions of dollars had been spent on the clean up process, clearing the way for growth.  The 
City reported a 45% increase in building permits in 1996 over 1995 which held steady until the 
recession of 2008, when once again development slowed.   
 
Today the city has grown mostly toward the highway and is a victim of urban sprawl, as many in 
the US have been.  A 20+ foot high bridge has been built over Main Street so buildings which 
once lined that corridor will not be built back.  The bridge also forms the southern edge of the 
district because it separates the downtown into two sections, North and South First Street.   
 
But the local community is fighting hard to bring life back into this rare remaining section of the 
city’s past.  This National Register Nomination was initiated by local officials with the help of 
residents and they have acquired the last depot building in hopes of relocating it to its original 
spot a few blocks from this district.18  
 
SIGNIFIGANCE OF THE PROPERTY 
 
With the larger city of Little Rock about twelve miles away, Jacksonville’s commercial center 
was important in offering conveniences to the local community.   Even from its beginning as a 
stage stop on the Southwest Trail, it was a popular resting place.  But when the area gained a 
railroad depot, the township began to take shape encouraging more settlers to move to the area.    
 
By 1872 the township had been platted and recorded as the city of “Jacksonville” with eight full 
blocks and four partial blocks on the east side of the railroad tracks.  In 1873 the land to the west 
side of the railroad tracks was developed including eight full blocks and nine partial blocks.  This 
section includes the area boundaries of the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District and is all 
that is left of Jacksonville’s original commercial center. 
 
First Street, which is the main street of the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District, is also 
known as Old Highway 67-- one of the initial highways built when the Arkansas State Highway 
System was developed in 1923.  Old Highway 67, which runs from Little Rock to St. Louis, 
followed the Southwest Trail.  With the development of the state highway system and the 

                         
16 Carolyn Yancey Kent, “Jacksonville,”  Encyclopedia of Arkansas History and Culture, last updated September 17, 
2014, accessed at www.encyclopediaofarkansas.net   
17 Jacksonville Historical Society, 21. 
18 Barbara Mashburn, telephone conversation with author, February 2015. 
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resulting influx of traffic and residents, the downtown community of Jacksonville began to take 
the shape of at twentieth century town, with the commercial buildings along First Street as its 
heart.  This is where the town gathered, shopped, and socialized. 
 
The architectural development of the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District represents 
community growth from the mid 1920s to the early 1960s.   Most of the buildings are original 
and several retain their historic architectural character. It is unique from more current automotive 
influenced low-scale, and broadly spread commercial developments in that the buildings are 
facing First Street with parking in the back or on the street.  It has characteristic elements such as 
buildings primarily constructed of brick and is a commercial area within walking proximity to a 
historically residential community, the railroad tracks, and serving traffic along Old Highway 67.  
Overall, the district has few severe or unsympathetically altered or new structures.  Due to its 
importance in the commercial history of Jacksonville, the Jacksonville Commercial Historic 
District is being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places with local significance 
under Criterion A. 
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Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): ________________ 

 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

10. Geographical Data 

 

 Acreage of Property ___ Approx. 3 acres ____________ 
 

 

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates 
 

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates 
Datum if other than WGS84:__________ 
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 
1. Latitude:   Longitude: 

 
2. Latitude:   Longitude: 

 
3. Latitude:   Longitude: 

 
4. Latitude:   Longitude: 
 

 

Or  

UTM References  

Datum (indicated on USGS map):  
 

           NAD 1927     or        NAD 1983 
 
 

1. Zone: 15 Easting:  581268  Northing:  3858550 
 

 

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 
The Jacksonville Commercial Historic District includes Lots 1-6 of Block 25 and Lot 6 of Block 
24.   

 
Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 

 
The boundary encompasses the most intact portion of Jacksonville’s downtown.  The railroad 
provides a natural boundary on the southeast while the new bridge provides a dividing line on the 
southwest.  To the northwest and northeast, the character of the buildings is much more modern 
in appearance or they have been altered and don’t reflect the historic character of Jacksonville. 
 

 X □ □ 
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______________________________________________________________________________ 
11. Form Prepared By 

 
name/title: _Antoinette Johnson of Johnson Consulting, edited by Ralph S. Wilcox, National 
Register and Survey Coordinator____                         ________________________________ 
organization: _Arkansas Historic Preservation Program___                   __________________ 
street & number: _323 Center St., Suite 1500                                                                              
city or town:  Little Rock state: _AR zip code:_72201                                                              
e-mail:_ralph@arkansasheritage.org___                                           _____________________ 
telephone:_(501) 324-9787_      _____________                                                            ______ 
date:_April 2015____                                                                                    _______________ 
 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Additional Documentation 

 

Submit the following items with the completed form: 
 

• Maps:   A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's 
location. 
    

•  Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous 
resources.  Key all photographs to this map. 

 

• Additional items:  (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.) 
  

Photographs 

Submit clear and descriptive photographs.  The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels 
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger.  Key all photographs 
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to 
the photograph number on the photo log.  For simplicity, the name of the photographer, 
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on 
every photograph. 
 

Photo Log 

 

Name of Property:   Jacksonville Commercial Historic District 
 
City or Vicinity:  Jacksonville 
 
County:  Pulaski   State:  Arkansas 
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Photographer:  Ralph S. Wilcox 
 
Date Photographed:  January 6, 2016 
 
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of 
camera: 
 
1 of _7__.  View north on North 1st Street from under the Main Street overpass. 
 
2 of _7__.  View north on North 1st Street from the middle of the block between West Main  
  and West Hickory streets. 
 
3 of _7__.  View south on North 1st Street from the middle of the block between West Main  
  and West Hickory streets. 
 
4 of _7__.  View of PU8836 at West Hickory Street and North 1st Street, looking north. 
 
5 of _7__.  View south on North 1st Street from West Hickory Street. 
 
6 of _7__.  View of PU8835, looking northwest. 
 
7 of _7__.  View of PU8833 and PU8834, looking northwest. 
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Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.  Response 
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 
et seq.). 
 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including  
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form.  Direct comments regarding 
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
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Historic name: Jacksonville Commercial Historic 

Other names/site number: 

Nat. Register of Historic Places 
National Park Service 
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Name of related multiple property listing: 

(Enter "NI A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing 
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Street & number: First Street from Mulberry St to W. Hickory St 
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Not For Publication:□ Vicinity: □ 
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5. Classification 

Ownership of Property 

(Check as many boxes as apply.) 
Private: 0 
Public - Local □ 

Public - State D 
Public - Federal D 
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(Check only one box.) 
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District 
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Pulaski , Arkansas 
County and State 

buildings 

sites 

structures 

objects 

Total 

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register __ O __ _ 

6. Function or Use 
Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

COMMERCE/ TRADE: financial institution, 

specialty store, restaurant, professional, business, 

department store 

GOVERNMENT: post office 

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

COMMERCE/ TRADE: professional, specialty 

store, business 

SOCIAL: Meeting Hall 
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7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY AMERICAN 

MOVEMENTS: Commercial Style 
building 

MODERN MOVEMENT: Art Deco 

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.) 
Principal exterior materials of the property: 

foundation: BRICK, POURED CONCRETE 

walls: WOOD: Weatherboard, BRICK, STUCCO 

ROLLED, TERRA COTTA, ASPHALT 
roof: SHINGLE 

Narrative Description 

(Expires 5/31/2012) 

Pulaski , Arkansas 
County and State 

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe contributing and 
noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general 
characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and 
significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.) 

Summary Paragraph 

The proposed Jacksonville Commercial Historic District runs along First Street from Mulberry Street to West Hickory 
Street and includes eleven buildings dating from 1925-1962. This area lies directly across from the railroad and a few 
blocks from where the train depot once sat. These blocks developed as the town center grew northwest, at a time when 
Jacksonville's growth still relied upon railroad transportation. The building composition of this community includes brick, 
stucco, and wood-sided commercial structures. The historic integrity of this community is 58% intact and contributing to 
its status as a historic district. The identity of this area is defined through its remaining historic structures, its location near 
the railroad, and as a representation of Jacksonville's growth from the early to mid-twentieth century. 

1 
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Narrative Description 

As in many communities across the nation, the location of the railroad was instrumental to Jacksonville's pattern of town 
development. The first official plat of the community shows a township of eight full blocks and four partial blocks 
extending from the railroad to one block east of Oak Street, one block south of Chestnut Street, to one block north of Pine 
Street. The proposed Jacksonville Commercial Historic District was originally an addition to the original township 
developed around 1873. It sits two blocks northwestward and across the railroad tracks from the original center of town. 
However, it is the only in-tact and still-existing set of commercial structures representing the historic development of 
Jacksonville commerce. 

Although the district is a little more than two blocks long, its architecture represents community growth from the mid-1920s 
to the early 1960s and most of the buildings are original, several still retaining their historic architectural character. As the 
construction dates of the buildings suggest, this area developed slowly, taking over 4 decades to fill these two blocks 
alone. Jacksonville's population has had several rises and setbacks over the decades and still struggles to remain a 
relative commercial center with the larger communities of Little Rock and Memphis so closely located. 

But at the construction of the district's first existing building in 1925, Jacksonville was stable and generating enough 
money to build a brand-new brick school building on South Oak Street. Nearby, the commercial core was growing to 
include a large brick mercantile built by the Henry Brothers at the corner of North First and West Hickory Streets. 

The pattern of growth mainly includes brick and stucco commercial buildings with minimal ornament built in the city's 
boom years. A characteristic example includes the City Cafe Building. They are mainly utilitarian in style and decorated 
with slight ornament. There are two exceptions to all of the buildings being built in the standard 20th century commercial 
style, the gas station at 200 N. First St. (PU8836) and the Jacksonville State Bank building (PU8837), both built in the very 
modern, but a simplistic version, of Art Deco. 

Jacksonville has been the recipient of several financial and communal setbacks resulting in more than one exodus of its 
citizens. Historically, when the city has been healthy the population grew, when it was in recession building growth halted. 

Today, the district has an industrial and somewhat desolate feel with some unoccupied buildings. Currently, the district 
has a very large contemporary bridge constructed over Main Street. Although the base of the bridge is open to allow 
traffic flow down First Street, its massive base visually divides the district into north and south sides. The district is mostly 
in-tact with only two demolished buildings. One of these lots now holds a covered wood structure once used as a 
neighboring restaurant's outdoor dining. But the area surrounding the district has several vacant lots and undeveloped 
spaces. Most of the buildings are occupied, some with resale businesses. The district houses a pawn and used tire shop 
but it also holds offices and a hall for the Knights of Columbus. The local government is interested in revitalizing the area 
and has been instrumental in initiating the survey and National Register nomination process. 

Inventory 

PU8837, Jacksonville State Bank, 109 W. Main St., c. 1949, Non-Contributing. Art Deco building of cast-concrete block 
construction with deco-inspired soffit banding. Built as the first bank in Jacksonville, Jacksonville State Bank was 
established to keep residents from having to travel to Little Rock with large sums of cash. The original directors were 
Jack Barrier, Jr., Jack East, Oscar Fray M.D., Lewis Hamlin, Lyle Marcus, Raymond Rebsamen, Fred W. Rogers, Fred 
Thompson, K. Patrick Wilson. The original officers were Raymond Rebsamen, President; Kenneth Patrick Wilson, Vice 
President; Lewis Hamlin, Vice President; R.C. Wilcox, Cashier; Garland Kirkpatrick, Assistant Cashier; Melda Rice, 
Assistant Cashier. Presently, the back of the building has been infilled with concrete block and the sides have been clad 
in corrugated metal. Main Street has been replaced with a 20 foot + tall bridge therefore the building now faces the base 
of a bridge instead of the street. 

PU8827, Mule Taylor Restaurant, 118 & 120 S. First St., c. 1930, Non-Contributing. This building was originally built as a 
three-bay brick building. Two bays made up the Mule Taylor Restaurant and the third was a store. The Mule Taylor was 
said to have the best hamburgers in town and was a favorite hangout spot in the 1930s and 1940s. The building became 
Parcy's Restaurant in the 1950s and 1960s. Later it became Roberta's Salon in 1999-2004 and RB McGrath Art Studio 
1999-2014. Around 1999, the front fac;:ade of the building was covered in board and batten siding and a stone veneer was 
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applied to the foundation. The back and side of the building remain brick. The building is non-contributing because of the 
altered fa9ade. 

PU8828, Western Auto, 106 S. First St., c. 1954, Non-Contributing. The front of this building is concrete block with a 
stone veneer and board and batten siding. The back is concrete block. The stone and siding were probably added to this 
building around 1999. Elite Body Shop currently owns the building. The building is non-contributing because of the 
alterations. 

PU8829, 104 S. First St, c. 1930, Contributing. Two-colored 20th century commercial brick building with yellow brick on 
the front and red brick on the sides and back. The plain front fa9ade has two vents in frieze and the back has a vertical 
sided addition. 

PU8830, 100 S. First St., c. 1962, Non-Contributing. Yellow brick L-shaped gabled two-story building with one-story flat­
roofed addition. This building most likely faced Main Street at one time. Most of the openings on Main Street and First 
Street have been infilled. The present front, along S. First Street, has been veneered with stucco and two small 
replacement windows are upstairs. Dr. Johnson and Dr. Durham built this building with one of their offices was upstairs 
and the other down. It was the first doctor's office in town that was able to process their own lab work. The building also 
housed Care Channel, which helped local needy families. It was a tattoo parlor and then last has been Angel's Place. It 
is currently vacant. The building is non-contributing because of the alterations. 

PU8831, City Cafe Building, 104, 106, and 108 N. First St., c. 1927, Contributing. Three-bay commercial building with 
horizontally lined decorative brick on the front fa9ade. There are four decorative vents with circular patterns in the front 
frieze and four on the back. The building was built as The City Cafe, which operated in this location until the 1950s. The 
Knights of Columbus bought the building in 2005 and currently operate a bingo parlor here. 

PU8832, Harpoles Store, 110 and 112 N. First St., c. 1927, Contributing. Two-bay red brick commercial building with a tile 
cap at the parapet. Built as Edgar Harpole and Brothers mercantile store by farmers, Squire and Rena Harpole. They 
installed public showers in the back of the store before most of Jacksonville had running water, charging townspeople to 
take a shower. The store cashed paychecks for the AR Ordinance Plant employees before the city had a bank. All four 
Harpole brothers worked in the store. Edgar was the barber, Austin was the bookkeeper, Reck drove the ice truck, and 
Harry was the butcher. Edgar was also the first alderman for the City of Jacksonville. In 1946 the store was purchased 
by two brothers, Kenneth Patrick and Leroy Wilson, and became Wilson Mercantile. Then in the 1950s it became a 
furniture store. 

PU8833, Thompson Building #2, 116 N. First St. d. 1940, Contributing. Red brick 20th century commercial building with a 
brick inset panel in the frieze. A cast-concrete plaque in frieze reads ''THOMPSON 1940". This was the first building built 
as a dedicated post office in Jacksonville. The previous post office had been located inside a mercantile store a few 
blocks down. Benjamin F. Thompson was Post Master from Jan 1, 1943 to 1965. The building was then occupied by 
Arkansas Power and Light Company (AP&L). It currently serves as offices for a realty company. 

PU8834, Thompson Building #1, 118 N. First St. d. 1938, Contributing . Red brick 20th century commercial building with a 
brick inset panel at the frieze and angled front doors. Cast-concrete plaque in the frieze reads "19-THOMPSON-38". In 
the 1940s Nixon's Barber Shop was located in this building. It had a shoe shine stand out front which catered to military 
men. Blodgett's Drug Store was here in the 1950s. It is currently empty. 

PU8835, Henry Brothers Store, 120 N. First St., d. 1925, Contributing. Brick 20th century commercial brick building with 
cast-concrete plaque in the frieze which reads, "HENRY BROS. 1925". This structure was built by a farming family, the 
Henrys: Alonzo F., M.L. Henry, and E.A. Henry along with their father M.J. Henry, for a mercantile. It then became 
Garvin's General store, Pace's Department Store, then Carlisle Department Store. It now houses a pawn shop. 

PU8836, 200 N. First St., c. 1955, Contributing. Stucco Art Deco gas station built of concrete blocks. It is a square 
building with two bay doors and a small office area. The north side has corner windows. Its pump island and light are still 
intact but the pumps are gone. In 2001 it was owned by Cy Carney Gas Co. It was sold to Mark Waggoner in 2001 and 
became Waggoner Motor Co. It operated as only one of three gas stations in the area for many years. It is currently a 
used tire shop. 

3 
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PU8851, Main Street Bridge, c.2010. Non-contributing. Steel framed T-beam style bridge with cast concrete panels at 
the base and metal handrails and fencing on top. It was built so pedestrians and automobile traffic could have safe 
access to the elementary school across from the business district downtown. James Reid was the mayor at the time this 
was built. It was designed by Metroplan. 

Break down by period: 
1925-1935 5 Buildings 
1936-1939 1 Buildings 
1940-1962 1 Buildings 
Non-contributing 5 Buildings 
Listed 0 Buildings 

Non-contributing Buildings: 

42% 
8% 
8% 

42% 
0% 

The district has 5 non-contributing buildings, for an overall 42% rate. Two of the buildings, (PU8827) the Mule Taylor 
Restaurant building and the Western Auto building (PU8828) have been remodeled in the 1990s covering their original 
front facades in board and batten wood siding and a stone base. The building 100 S. First St. (PU8830) has changed its 
orientation from a Main Street address to a S. First St. address. It also has a modern-style cube-shaped addition serving 
currently as its main entrance. This portion of the building has been covered in stucco. The Jacksonville State Bank 
(PU8837) has had significant changes to it including concrete block infill and facades covered in corrugated metal. The 
Main Street Bridge (PU8851) was built after the fifty year cut-off date. 
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(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register 
listing.) 

□ 
□ 

□ 

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 
broad patterns of our history. 

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. 

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction. 

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 
history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 

D A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes 

D B. Removed from its original location 

D C. A birthplace or grave 

D D. A cemetery 

D E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure 

□ F. A commemorative property 

D G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years 
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Commerce 

Period of Significance 
1925-1965 

Significant Dates 
NIA 

Significant Person 
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 

NIA 

Cultural Affiliation 
NIA 

Architect/Builder 
Unknown 
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes 
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any 
applicable criteria considerations.) 

The Jacksonville Commercial Historic District is locally significant under Criterion A as part of the 
commercial center of Jacksonville. It thrived due to its location along First Street, which was the original 
route of U.S. 67, and because it was directly across from the railroad and along US 67. This district also 
supported the historically residential area of Jacksonville which lies behind it. The period of significance 
begins in 1925 and ends in 1965, fifty years prior to the present. 

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of 
significance.) 

Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate) 

The area in which the city of Jacksonville was later to be developed was established by white men in 
1818. Three brothers, Sherrard, Joseph, and Jacob Gray were the earliest known pioneers in the area. 
They'd brought their families, grown children's families, and slaves from Eastern Tennessee to what was 
then known as an unsettled area between the Bayou Meto Community and the Bayou of the Two Prairies 
about twelve miles north of Little Rock. 1 

When the Grays arrived, Arkansas was in the midst of becoming a territory, causing the Grays to wait for 
land to be surveyed before claims could be recorded and purchases of property could be made. But 
when available, the Grays purchased large tracts of land. As a result, when townships were recorded in 
Pulaski County this area was called Gray Township, in honor of the largest family of landowners in the 
area. 2 

By 1830 the family holdings had become so large that one of their households could almost be 
considered a small township by itself. Samson Gray, a son of one of the pioneering brothers, household 
consisted of twelve of the Gray family members and eleven slaves. At one point in 1826, Samson was 
documented to own 2,746 acres of land in Pulaski County. It included the land where Jacksonville would 
later be established. 3 The Grays built a tavern, an early stage stop, and a school at this settlement.4 

But the settlement of Arkansas was a slow process as early roads were little more than foot paths and 
water travel was uncertain. But from 1830-1840 road conditions began to improve due to help from the 
federal government. As a result of easier passage, stage travel became safer and more predictable with 
stops for taverns, food, and overnight accommodations. Gray Township was a popular stage stop 
encouraging more settlers to movH into the area. 5 

By the 1850s and 1860s the westward movement was in full swing and steam boats were quickly being 
surpassed by railroads as the main source of passenger and commodity transportation. Arkansas 

1 Carolyn Yancy Little, "The Bayou Meto Settlement," Siftings from Jacksonville's History 1820-1980, 
1986. 
2 Carolyn Little, "The History of Jacksonville 1818-1976", 6. 
3 Ibid, 8. · 
4 Ibid, 6. 
5 Ibid, 8. 
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passed legislation to set up ground work for the Cairo and Fulton Railroad as well as several other lines 
to come through the state. But construction was promptly stopped due to the outbreak of the Civil War. 

In 1854 a farmer by the name of Nicholas W. Jackson, originally from North Carolina, sold his holdings in 
Prairie County to try his luck in Gray Township. He was successful enough in Gray to purchase several 
other pieces of land in the area around 1865. These acres were choice locations in that they surrounded 
the proposed right of way for the Cairo and Fulton. Jackson moved this family to the Gray Township land 
around 1867. 7 

In June of 1870, Jackson deeded a right-of-way to the Cairo and Fulton for $300 under the condition that 
the railroad establish a derot at or near his property. It was built near the corner where Spring and 
Walnut Streets now meet. In this same year, Jackson platted out this land, but never officially filed the 
record. From this divided land he sold plats where the deeds described the lots as being in the town of 
Jackson. 9 

With the construction of the railroad, the community quickly grew. Streets were laid out and cleared, 
shops were built and the area began to become a real town. The first official plat of the town of 
"Jacksonville" was dated January 2, 1872. It showed a town of eight full blocks and four partial blocks 
extending from the railroad tracks to one block east of Oak Street, to one block south of Chestnut Street, 
to one block north of Pine Street. The area consisted of 120 lots. 10 

In 1873 another section was added to the town. The addition consisted of eight full blocks and nine 
partial blocks including the new streets of Division, Mulberry, Locust (now known as Main Street), Hickory, 
Elm, First, and Second streets. The proposed Jacksonville Commercial Historic District lies within these 
boundaries. At this time the town grew to hold grist mills and gins, drug stores and medical practices, a 
general store, law office, meat market, and hotel. By 1893 the population was at 200. 11 

Jacksonville's population remained between 100 and 200 for many years, even into the early years of the 
Depression. 12 But at the construction of the district's first (still-existing) building in 1925, Jacksonville was 
stable and generating enough money to build a brand-new brick school building on South Oak Street. 
Nearby, the commercial core of the proposed historic district was growing to include a large brick 
mercantile built by the Henry Brothers at the corner of North First and West Hickory Streets. The year 
1927 brought in another large mercantile and a very popular eating spot, both built of brick in a common 
and very sparsely ornamented, 20th century commercial style. 

Although the Depression of the 1930s was difficult for everyone in the United States, Jacksonville was not 
as adversely affected as many of the larger cities. The population consisted of several farmers and most 
families kept gardens or small farms, as the area surrounding the commercial core mainly relied upon an 
agricultural-based income. Therefore, many of the farmers at least had their crops and produce to 
sustain their families. Regardless of the country's Depression, Jacksonville actually saw some growth at 
this time. Four buildings were built in the district between 1925 and 1935. 

6 Ibid, 18. 
7 Little, Siftings. 
8 Carolyn Little, "Jacksonville Gets Railroad Station, Followed By Post Office," Jacksonville Centennial 
1870-1970. 
9 Little, The History of Jacksonville, 18. 
10 Ibid19 
11 Littl~, J~cksonville Gets Railroad. 
12 "Serving the Business Community Fifty Years: The Jacksonville Chamber of Commerce", 20. 
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To assist with the financial and community strains brought on by the Depression, the federal government 
sponsored programs including the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) to employ jobless men. One of the 
CCC's 39 district sites included Jacksonville and in 1935 work on "Camp Jacksonville" began. The local 
community greatly benefitted from the influx of new young men, resulting in some growth in the 
commercial core. The 1930s saw another restaurant and a few other specialty retail stores open and in 
1940, the first post office building, the Thompson Building was built. In all, three new buildings were built 
between 1936 and 1939. 

World War 11 broke out in the fall of 1939 and the US government began to phase out the CCC camps. 
By mid-1941 they had all closed. Jacksonville sorely felt the loss of income and population left by the 
exodus of its new residents. By 1940 the streets were still unpaved and there was no natural gas, street 
lights, water, or sewer system. The scarce amenities and lifeless town saw little new building. Only one 
new structure was built in 1940, Thompson Building #2 which was the first building designed as a post 
office. 

At this time, Homer Atkins, who grew up on a farm in Piedmont about six miles from Jacksonville, was 
elected as governor of Arkansas. During his tenure in office, he was instrumental in bringing war plants 
to Arkansas, including the Jacksonville Ordinance Plant. 13 The Jacksonville plant opened in 1941 and 
manufactured fuses and detonators. At this time, the citizens of the community petitioned to incorporate 
the town and it officially became the City of Jacksonville in November of 1941. 

The plant employed thousands of employees, mainly from Little Rock and North Little Rock and 
surrounding areas who had to be bused, car-pooled, or brought in by train. The government condemned 
9,000 acres in Jacksonville to build 476 buildings, including a library, hospital, fire department, recreation 
hall, auditorium, barber and beauty shops, newspaper office and six dormitories. Nine trains ran a day 
shuttling employees from Little Rock and North Little Rock to and from Jacksonville. At its peak, the plant 
employed 13,500 people and brought an estimated $69 million to the local economy. 

The citizens of Jacksonville petitioned the local authorities to build a bank. They had been traveling to 
Little Rock to deposit large sums of money or cash substantial checks. So the Jacksonville State Bank 
was built in the very progressive Art Deco style along Main Street. 14 The addition of the bank and post 
office to the district, although built during a rough patch, suggest the area was still important, if not the 
new "center" of town. 

At the close of the war in 1945, the plant shut down leaving the majority of Jacksonville's residents 
without employment. The farms that had helped the citizens through the low point of the Depression 
were now covered by empty war plant buildings. A substantial amount of the population left in search of 
jobs. 

When the plant closed, Jacksonville citizens organized the local Chamber of Commerce which worked 
with the War Assets Administration to secure buyers for property formerly occupied by the plant. Three 
early companies to establish their offices in the now industrial park were Reasor Hill Corporation who 
came in 1946, Hiwasse Manufacturing Company in 1947, and Redmond Company in 1948. The chamber 
also secured funds for roads for the city and the city built water and sewage facilities bringing Jacksonville 
into the twentieth century. 

In 1952, the opportunity arose to bring the Air Force Base to the area. The cities of Jacksonville and Little 
Rock rose over $1 million to purchase land which they donated to the base in order to get the Defense 

13 Ibid. 
14Jacksonville Historical Society, "Jacksonville's Historical District: Preserving our History for Future 
Generations," Prepared by Barbara Mashburn, Gary Fletcher, Carolyn Kent, 21. 

Section 8 page 9 



Returned

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service/ National Register of Historic Places Registration Form 

NPS Form 10-900 0MB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 
5/31/2012) 

Jacksonville Commercial Historic District Pulaski, Arkansas 
Name of Property County and State 

Department to approve the location. The base opened in 1955 and in doing so drew businesses and 
industries to Jacksonville. Around this time the Western Auto chain built a store in the district. Then the 
last structure, a large two story doctor's office was built in the district in 1962. 

The population grew from around 2,000 in 1948 to more than 30,000 in the 1990s. The base claimed 
over 6,6000 employees and over 12,000 retirees settled in the area. 15 

The 1980s and 1990s once again saw an exodus of residents when Dioxin, a toxic byproduct of 
insecticides-once produced on the site, was dis_covered at the old Reasor-Hill/ Vertac plant site. In 
1978, the National Dioxin Survey found high concentrations of the agent in waste sludge and 
contamination of wildlife and fish as far as fifty miles downstream from the old plant. By 1983 the site was 
labeled a Superfund site which described it as one of the worst Dioxin-contaminated sites in the nation. 
Vertac, the company which produced the wastes, attempted to make some improvements but in 1987 
they abandoned the site, leaving approximately 29,000 drums of Dioxin-containing waste. 

In 1987, the Arkansas Department of Pollution Control and Ecology (ADPCE) took remedial steps in 
containing and eliminating the waste but in 1993 the United States Environmental Protection Agency took 
over the cleanup operation and sued Hercules and Vertac for the costs. Today, the site remains closed 
to the public and monitored by the EPA but is considered no longer harmful to the public. 16 Years of 
controversy and negative publicity haunted the city. The city claimed the rumors spread about 
contaminated drinking water were false but growth slowed dramatically. 17 

By the end of the twentieth century, possibly enough time had passed to put the city back on track. The 
community gained a favorable settlement with the EPA and the responsible parties and millions of dollars 
had been spent on the clean up process, clearing the way for growth. The City reported a 45% increase 
in building permits in 1996 over 1995 which held steady until the recession of 2008, when once again 
development slowed. 

Today the city has grown mostly toward the highway and is a victim of urban sprawl, as many in the US. 
A 20+ foot high bridge has been built over Main Street so buildings which once lined that corridor will not 
be built back. To open the front door of the Jacksonville State Bank building would be to walk into huge 
wall composing the base of the bridge. It separates the proposed historic district into two sections, North 
and South First Street. 

But the local community is fighting hard to bring life back into this rare remaining section of the city's past. 
This National Register Nomination was instigated by local officials with the help of residents and they 
have acguired the last depot building in hopes of relocating it to its original spot a few blocks from this 
district. 18 

SIGNIFIGANCE OF THE PROPERTY 

With the larger city of Little Rock about twelve miles away, Jacksonville's commercial center was 
important in offering conveniences to the local community. Even from its beginning as a stage stop on 
the Southwest Trail, it was a popular resting place. But when the area gained a railroad depot, the 
township began to take shape encouraging more settlers to move to the area. 

15 Ibid 21 
16 Car~lyn- Yancey Kent, "Jacksonville," Encyclopedia of Arkansas History and Culture, last updated 
September 17, 2014, accessed at www.encyclopediaofarkansas.net 
17 Jacksonville Historical Society, 21 . 
18 Barbara Mashburn, telephone conversation with author, February 2015. 
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By 1872 the township had been platted and recorded as the city of "Jacksonville" with eight full blocks 
and four partial blocks on the east side of the railroad tracks. In 1873 the land to the west side of the 
railroad tracks was developed including eight full blocks and nine partial blocks. This section includes the 
area boundaries of the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District and is all that is left of Jacksonville's 
original commercial center. 

First Street, which is the main street of the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District, is also known as Old 
Highway 67-- one of the initial highways built when the Arkansas State Highway System was developed 
in 1923. Old Highway 67, which runs from Little Rock to St. Louis, followed the Southwest Trail. With the 
development of the state highway system and the resulting influx of traffic and residents, the downtown 
community of Jacksonville began to take the shape of at twentieth century town, with the commercial 
buildings along First Street as its heart. This is where the town gathered, shopped, and socialized. 

The architectural development of the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District represents community 
growth from the mid 1920s to the early 1960s. Most of the buildings are original and several retain their 
historic architectural character. It is unique from more current automotive influenced low-scale, and 
broadly spread commercial developments in that the buildings are facing First Street with parking in the 
back or on the street. It has characteristic elements such as buildings primarily constructed of brick and is 
a commercial area within walking proximity to a historically residential community, the railroad tracks, and 
serving traffic along Old Highway 67. Overall, the district has few severe or unsympathetically altered or 
new structures. Due to its importance in the commercial history of Jacksonville, the Jacksonville 
Commercial Historic District is being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places with local 
significance under Criterion A. 
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9. Major Bibliographical References 

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.) 

Jacksonville Historical Society, "Jacksonville's Historical District: Preserving our History for Future 
Generations," Prepared by Barbara Mashburn, Gary Fletcher, Carolyn Kent. 

Kent, Carolyn Yancey. "Jacksonville," Encyclopedia of Arkansas History and Culture. 

Little, Carolyn. The History of Jacksonville: 1818-1976, 1976. 

Little, Carolyn Yancy. "The Bayou Meta Settlement," Siftings from Jacksonville's History 1820-1980, 1986 . 

... "Jacksonville Gets Railroad Station, Followed By Post Office," Jacksonville Centennial 1870-1970. 

Mashburn, Barbara. Conversation with author, 2015. 

"Serving the Business Community Fifty Years: The Jacksonville Chamber of Commerce" . Accessed at 
the Butler Center, Arkansas Studies Institute. 

Previous documentation on file (NPS): 

__ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested 
__ previously listed in the National Register 
__ previously determined eligible by the National Register 
__ designated a National Historic Landmark 
__ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey # _____ _ 
__ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # ____ _ 
__ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ____ _ 

Primary location of additional data: 
_x_ State Historic Preservation Office 
__ Other State agency 
__ Federal agency 
__ Local government 
__ University 
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Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): ______ _ 

10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of Property _ _ A~PP~r_o_x_. 3_ ac_r_e_s _____ _ 

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates 

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates 
Datum if other than WGS84: -----
( enter coordinates to 6 decimal places) 
1. Latitude: Longitude: 

2. Latitude: Longitude: 

3. Latitude: Longitude: 

4. Latitude: Longitude: 

Or 
UTM References 
Datum (indicated on USGS map): 

□NAD 1927 or 0 NAD 1983 

(Expires 

Pulaski , Arkansas 
County and State 

1. Zone: 15S Easting: 581268 Northing: 3858550 

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 
The Jacksonville Commercial Historic District runs from Lot 5 Block 26 along S. First Street to 
Lot O Block 24 on N. First Street and includes the Main Street Bridge. 
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Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 

The proposed district area holds the most intact concentration of historic commercial buildings in 
Jacksonville. The eastern boundary of the district is defined by First Street, beyond it lays the railroad 
track. Directly to the south there is a lot used to store towed cars and beyond it are non-contributing 
buildings mixed with vacant lots. Directly to the north lies a residential neighborhood. Along the northern 
edge lies a non-contributing building and then several vacant lots before a cluster of metal warehouse 
chain stores. 

11. Form Prepared By 

name/title: Antoinette Johnson of Johnson Consulting, edited by Ralph S. Wilcox, 
National Register and Survey Coordinator 
organization: Arkansas Historic Preservation Program 
street & number: 323 Center St. , Suite 1500 
city or town: Little Rock state: AR zip code: 72201 
e-mail ralph@arkansasheritage.org 
telephone: 501-324-9880 
date: April 2015 

Additional Documentation 

Submit the following items with the completed form: 

• Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's 
location. 

• Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous 
resources. Key all photographs to this map. 

• Additional items: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.) 
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Photographs 
Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels 
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs 
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to 
the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer, 
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn't need to be labeled on 
every photograph. 

Photo Log 

Name of Property: Jacksonville Commercial Historic District 

City or Vicinity: Jacksonville 

County: Pulaski 

Photographer: Antoinette Johnson 

Date Photographed: March 2015 

State: Arkansas 

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of 
camera: 

Photo #1 
Building numbers PU8827 Mulberry St. looking west from S. First St. 

Photo #2 
Building numbers PU8827, PU8828, PU8829, PU8830, Main St. Bridge, west side of N. First St looking 
north 

Photo #3 
Building numbers PU8830, PU8837 W. Main St. camera facing west from N. First St. 

Photo #4 
Building numbers PU8831, PU8832, PU8833, PU8834, PU8835, West side of N. First St. camera facing 
north from W. Main St. 

Photo #5 
Building numbers PU8835, PU8836 west side of N. First St. at W. Hickory St. camera facing north 

Photo #6 
Building numbers PU8835, PU8834, PU8833, PU8832, PU8831 , west side of W. First St. at W. Hickory 
St. Camera facing south 

Photo #7 
Building numbers PU8835, PU8836, W. Hickory St at N. First St. camera looking west. 
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Photo #8 
Building numbers PU8836, PU8835, N. First St looking south 

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response 
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 
et seq.). 

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including 
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form . Direct comments regarding 
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
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The nomination for the Jacksonville Commercial Historic District is being returned for 
substantive revision. The district, consisting of a string of commercial buildings located 
on one side of First Street, facing the railroad tracks, includes eleven buildings. The 
district is bisected by Main Street, carried over First Street and the railroad tracks by a 
viaduct of recent construction. To the south of Main Street, there are five identified 
buildings, only one of which is considered contributing to the district. To the north of the 
Main Street viaduct, all six buildings are considered contributing. The viaduct itself is 
considered noncontributing. 

The nomination barely addresses the startling visual intrusion that is the main Street 
viaduct. This c. 2010 concrete structure looms over the district, which consists primarily 
oflow, one-story buildings. The viaduct cuts the district in half, blocking the sightline 
that once was afforded a person walking or driving on First Street. Standing on the 
sidewalk in front of any building on South First Street, the row of buildings on North 
First Street is completely obscured. The nomination does not adequately address the 
viaduct and its effects on integrity of setting, feeling, and design for the district. 

The viaduct was constructed around 2010, and surely was subject to Section 106. Please 
investigate that file to see if A), there was a consensus determination of eligibility, and if 
so, B) what the assessment of effect was. 

If your office still feels that the district is eligible, please provide a better assessment of 
effect of the viaduct, and please reconsider the boundaries as it relates to not only the 
viaduct but the buildings to the south of it, the majority of which are considered 
noncontributing. While the State's grant program for noncontributing resources is 
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worthy, it cannot serve as a justification for inclusion of such resources in contravention 
of the guidance provided in the National Register bulletins. 

We appreciate the opportunity to review this nomination and hope that you find these 
comments useful. Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions. I can be 
~ed w275 or email at <James Gabbert@nps.gov>. 

Jim Gabbert, Historian 
National Register of Historic Places 
9/29/2015 
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January 8, 2016 Nat. Register ol' Historic Places 
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J. Paul Loether, Deputy Keeper and Chief 
National Register and National Historic Landmark Programs 
National Register of Historic Places 
1201 Eye St. NW, 8th Fl. 
Washington D.C. 20005 

RE: Jacksonville Commercial Historic District - Jacksonville, 
Pulaski County, Arkansas 

Dear Mr. Loether: 

We are enclosing for your review the above-referenced revised 
nomination. The Arkansas Historic Preservation Program has 
complied with all applicable nominating procedures and notification 
requirements in the nomination process. 

If you need further information, please call Ralph S. Wilcox of my staff 
at (501) 324-9787. Thank you for your cooperation in this matter. 

s~'ILK sJd~rst 
Sta~istoric Preservation Officer 

SH:rsw 

Enclosure 
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